ORIGINAL

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 18 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK By

JANE DOE,

Petitioner,

vs.

2

CASE NO. 94,450

WILLIAM DUNBAR EVANS, III, et al.,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

EDWARD CAMPBELL 1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. 7th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401

and

RANDY D. ELLISON Florida Bar No. 0759449 1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 350 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 478-2500

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF SIZE AND STYLE OF TYPE

It is certified that the size and style of type used in this brief is 12 point Courier New, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

STATEMENT RE JURISDICTION

This is a jurisdictional brief regarding this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the Fourth District Court which expressly construed a provision of the federal constitution.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court's decision below expressly applied the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, holding that common law negligence, breach of fiduciary duty and outrage actions against churches and church officials are barred by that constitutional provision. The relative novelty and difficulty of the constitutional questions posed is demonstrated by the Fourth District Court's eight page opinion and near-exclusive reliance therein upon the sharply divided First Amendment case law of other states.

The Fourth District Court held that churches and their

supervisory officials are constitutionally immune from common law civil actions arising from non-criminal misconduct. This Court should exercise its unique role of resolving constitutional doubt on a statewide basis, by accepting jurisdiction over this important question which affects the safety of all Floridians.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

All of the facts in the description of proceedings below are taken from the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered on September 9, 1998.

Petitioner, Jane Doe, is a former parishioner of Respondent, the Church of the Holy Redeemer (the Church). Doe's pastor was the Reverend William Dunbar Evans III. Doe sued the Church and Rev. Evans in the instant action, while joining Respondents, the Diocese of Southeast Florida, Inc., (the Diocese) and Bishop Calvin O. Schofield, Jr.

Doe alleged that while she was a parishioner at the Church, Reverend Evans approached her and asked to assist her with marital counseling, creating a counselor/counselee relationship with her from December 27, 1991 to February 1992. Doe alleged that during the course of this marital counseling, Evans became romantically involved with her, contrary to his responsibilities. Doe alleged

that the Church, Bishop Scholfield, and the Diocese were made aware early in the counseling process that Evans was abusing his position of trust and that they were also aware of prior incidents involving sexual misconduct during counseling by Reverend Evans, both in another church within the Diocese and at the Church. Despite the fact that Schofield and the Diocese had control over hiring, firing, compensation and discipline of priests such as Evans, Doe alleged that nothing was done to rectify the situation.

Doe sued the Church, the Diocese and Schofield for negligent hiring, supervision and/or retention, breach of fiduciary duty and "outrage." The Church, Diocese, and Bishop Schofield moved to dismiss Doe's Second Amended Complaint on the basis that the causes of action brought against these church defendants involved practices and procedures beyond the purview of secular courts and would result in excessive entanglement with religious beliefs contrary to the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The circuit court granted the motion to dismiss with prejudice, stating that Doe's claims were barred by the First Amendment.

The Fourth District Court's eight page opinion dated September 9, 1998, reviewed the sharply divided First Amendment case law from other jurisdictions, but agreed with the Circuit Court that the causes of action alleged were barred by the First Amendment. In

the Fourth District Court's view, to impose civil liability for the negligent hiring/retention/ supervision of a minister (and breaches of fiduciary duties arising therefrom) would excessively entangle the state in religious matters where the ministerial conduct in question is not criminal in character.

ISSUE AS TO JURISDICTION

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A DECISION WHICH HOLDS THAT COMMON LAW ACTIONS AGAINST CHURCH AUTHORITIES ARISING FROM THE SEXUAL MISCONDUCT OF MINISTERS ARE BARRED BY THE FIRST AMENDMENT.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of the District Courts of Appeal which expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution. Fla. Const. Art. V Sec. 3 (B)(3). The decision under review must explain, define or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision. <u>Ogle v. Pepin</u>, 273 So.2nd 391, 392 (Fla. 1973).

The eight page decision of the Fourth District Court below surveyed at length the sharply divided case law from other jurisdictions on the critical First Amendment questions posed by each of Doe's claims, placing its ruling squarely upon First Amendment grounds. It is difficult to imagine a District Court

opinion which more fully satisfies the "constitutional construction" ground for this Court's review.

The policy ground which underlies this Court's discretionary review in this class of cases is at its zenith. Only this Court can resolve legal doubts on a statewide basis. Resolving constitutional doubts, in particular, is a highly important function of this Court because it results in more predictable organic law. This Court's function is thus to say whether an evolution in constitutional law developed by the lower appellate courts is proper. <u>See</u>, G. Kogan & R. Waters, <u>The Operation and</u> <u>Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court</u>, 18 Nova L. Rev. 1151 (1994).

The Fourth District Court's opinion holds that negligent hiring/retention/supervision and breach of fiduciary duty claims against church authorities excessively entangle the government with religion so as to bar such claims under First Amendment principles. This decision necessarily creates statewide doubts regarding the ability of courts to decide civil disputes involving the misconduct of churches and ecclesiastical officials. The "carte blanche" which the Fourth District grants to churches and their supervisory officials to ignore misconduct by their agent's, represents a unique immunity for the inevitable injuries which will arise from

otherwise actionable conduct. Florida citizens who have been injured in ways that would be cognizable in the courts but for the religious status of their perpetrators should know that the law either permits or does not permit redress for those wrongs on a statewide basis.

The instant decision rests upon the "fulcrum" of a specious distinction; that the criminality of the church agent's conduct controls as to whether or not the First Amendment will bar civil redress against the church's supervisory authorities. The Fourth District clearly reached for this limit on its "carte blanche", so that the hiring and supervision of pedophiles would not be Constitutionally protected. This concern is understandable, given the very public history of sexual assaults on children by priests, ministers and other church employees. However, not only does this "criminality" distinction have <u>no</u> basis in <u>any</u> federal decision applying the First Amendment, that distinction was expressly repudiated by Respondents at oral argument before the Fourth District Court, wherein they claimed that their First Amendment immunity extended even to cases involving the sexual abuse of children.

To allow the scope of the First Amendment immunity to turn upon whether the conduct in question is "criminal" overlooks the

fact that criminality is decided by state legislators who are <u>governed</u> by the Constitution (rather then the other way around). The instant case perfectly crystalizes the absurdity of this supposed "criminality" distinction, since under Florida law even consensual sexual relations are criminal when engaged in by a marital counselor (at least where that counselor wears no ministerial collar). <u>See</u>, Fla. Stat. Sec. 491.0112 (1994); Fla. Stat. Sec. 491.014 (3) (1994). The notion that the United States Supreme Court will ultimately allow the contours of the First Amendment to be dictated by the technical contours of the criminal codes of the fifty states, plainly misconceives the function of the federal constitution, representing a clear departure from any constitutional doctrine yet forged by either the U.S. Supreme Court or this Court.

Clearly, the instant decision raises important, manifest doubts which this Court should undertake to excise from the organic law of this State.

CONCLUSION

Constitutional review jurisdiction exists. This Court should accept that jurisdiction to decide the very serious First Amendment issues posed by the Fourth District Court's opinion, which unnecessarily endangers the public by granting carte blanche immunity to churches and ecclesiastical officials.

> EDWARD CAMPBELL 1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. 7th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Į.

and

RANDY D. ELLISON 1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 350 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 478-2500

B٦

RANDY D. ELLISON, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 0759449