# ORIGINAL



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

FEB 9 1999

EME COURT

CASE No. 94,450

By 1. 1 • hief Beputy Glerk

CLERK.

JANE DOE,

Petitioner,

vs.

WILLIAM DUNBAR EVANS, III, CHURCH OF THE HOLY REDEEMER, INC., THE DIOCESE OF SOUTHEAST FLORIDA, INC. and CALVIN O. SCHOFIELD, JR.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Discretionary Review from The Fourth District Court of Appeal

> Renzulli & Rutherford, LLP 300 East 42nd Street New York, New York 10017 (212) 599-5533

> > and

Barwick, Dillian, Lambert & Ice, PA 999 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-6001

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondents adopt the facts as stated in the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Jane Doe's Statement of the Case and Facts, for the most part, is taken from this opinion. Jane Doe's conclusion, however, that the Fourth District made a distinction between the alleged criminal and non-criminal conduct of a religious figure is erroneous. The Fourth District merely determined that the adjudication of Jane Doe's claims would necessarily implicate an excessive governmental entanglement with religion. Any such distinction between criminal and non-criminal acts was merely incidental to its findings.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over this case. Although this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a lower court which expressly construes a provision of the federal constitution, the conclusions drawn by the lower court are unexceptional and within the majority of the courts throughout the nation that have addressed these issues. The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision was based on the established constitutional mandate that the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States prohibits a secular court's inquiry into

church law, policies or practices, which, necessarily, would be required to examine the merits of Jane Doe's claims.

Jane Doe erroneously argues in her jurisdictional brief that the Fourth District held that all common law negligence claims against churches and church officials are barred by the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. In addition, Jane Doe incorrectly argues that churches and their supervisory officials are "constitutionally immune from common law civil actions arising from non-criminal conduct." As a consequence, Jane Doe maintains that this Court should resolve the resulting "constitutional doubts" by accepting jurisdiction over this matter.

Contrary to Jane Doe's assertions, the Fourth District did not hold that all common law negligence claims against churches and church officials are barred by the First Amendment. Only those claims, such as negligent hiring, retention and supervision and breach of fiduciary duty, which would require a secular court to interpret church law, policies or practices, are barred. Furthermore, the Fourth District did not hold that churches and supervisory officials are immune from liability for all civil actions arising from non-criminal conduct. The Fourth District merely noted differences of opinion throughout the nation and remarked that some jurisdictions do not find that the First

Amendment is a bar to a civil action based upon criminal conduct. It is respectfully submitted that these issues do not rise to the level of "constitutional doubt" such that this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over this case.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. <u>The Fourth District Did Not Create Constitutional</u> <u>Doubts or Grant Carte Blanche Immunity to Churches</u> <u>and Ecclesiastical Officials</u>

Jane Doe has clearly misread and misinterpreted the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case. A close reading of the opinion of the district court shows that there are no constitutional doubts which "unnecessarily endanger the public." In addition, churches and ecclesiastical officials were not given "carte blanche" immunity for their tortious conduct. There is no need, therefore, for this Court to review the district court's opinion in this case.

Jane Doe argues in her jurisdictional brief that churches and their supervisory officials are constitutionally immune from common law civil actions arising from non-criminal conduct and that this has created some "constitutional doubt" which this Court should resolve. Jane Doe's premise, however, is flawed. Churches and supervisory officials are <u>not</u> constitutionally immune from all

civil actions and the district court never disputes this issue. The district court merely found that the First Amendment bars a claim for negligent hiring, retention and supervision, under these circumstances, because a church defendant's conduct in hiring, retaining or supervising a priest or other church member is guided by religions doctrine or practice. The district court also found that a secular court similarly would be forced to review and interpret church law, policies and practices if it were called upon to determine whether a fiduciary duty is owed to a parishioner by a church entity and, if so, whether that fiduciary duty was breached. The scope of the district court's decision falls far short of Jane Doe's contention that church officials can now enjoy "carte blanche" constitutional immunity against all civil actions to the detriment of all Floridians.

The Respondents do not maintain, and the district court does not suggest, that the First Amendment is an absolute bar to finding a religious institution liable for its tortious conduct. <u>See</u>, <u>Strock v. Pressnell</u>, 527 N.E.2d 1235, 1237 (Ohio 1988)("It is well settled that clergy may be sued for the torts they commit. For example, religious leaders have been held liable for obtaining gifts and donations of money by fraud, . . . for the kidnaping of a minor, . . . for unlawful imprisonment, [and] for homosexual

assault . . . ."); see, also, Epperson v. Myers, 58 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1952) (defendant pastor enjoined from occupying church property or acting as pastor); Covington v. Bowers, 442 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (trial court as fact finder could find that procedure used for pastor's dismissal accorded with church custom); Hemphill v. Zion Hope Primitive Baptist Church, 447 So.2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (temporary injunction brought against fired pastor to enjoin him from acting in that capacity and seeking an accounting did not violate constitutional requirement of separation of church and Neither Jane Doe nor Floridians in general are unduly state). prejudiced by the district court's findings. In addition to demanding criminal penalties, Jane Doe has the ability to bring causes of action against the alleged perpetrator, William Dunbar Evans, for any intentional torts, including assault and battery.

The obstacle arises, however, when causes of action brought against religious institutions are premised upon their status as a religious institution. Religion was clearly the foundation for Jane Doe's relationship with the Respondents; it was not merely incidental to it. This is not a case in which neutral principles of tort law can be applied by a secular court because the calling (hiring), supervision and retention of a priest, and any fiduciary duty there may be between a parishioner and a religious

institution, involve internal church governance which impermissibly entangles the court in ecclesiastical decisions of the Episcopal Church. The Fourth District determined, therefore, that the First Amendment was implicated.

Jane Doe also argues in her jurisdictional brief that the opinion of the Fourth District "rests upon the `fulcrum' of a specious distinction; that the criminality of the church agent's conduct controls as to whether or not the First Amendment will bar civil redress against the church's supervisory authorities." The Fourth District Court's opinion in this case, however, does not rest upon this distinction. The Fourth District cites to the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Doe v. Dorsey, 683 So.2d 614 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), rev. denied, 695 So.2d 699 (Fla. 1997), and recognized that the Fifth District, in dicta, commented that it would "draw the line at criminal conduct" and, under those circumstances, "interfere" in the church's selection, training and assignment of its clerics. The Fourth District, contrary to Jane Doe's representations, did not adopt this reasoning. In fact, the Fourth District did not have to address this issue because there was no claim by Jane Doe that she did not consent to the relationship with William Dunbar Evans or that the Respondents' conduct was criminal in nature. Any contention that the Fourth

District Court's decision was based upon this "criminality" distinction is not supported by a reading of the opinion. As a consequence, the district court did not raise any "manifest doubts" which this Court needs to address. This Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over this case.

#### CONCLUSION

Church of the Holy Redeemer, Inc., The Diocese of Southeast Florida, Inc. and Calvin O. Schofield, Jr., respectfully request that the Court deny the petition for discretionary review.